

ISSN 1743-8713

Home

:: Articles

:: Discussion

¤ Search

[¤] Subscribe

¤ Editors

¤ Editorial

Submit Article

¤ Oxford University

¤ About the OUCLF

¤ Our Sponsors

¤ Copyright

¤ Disclaimer

Last updated: 17/09/14



Oxford University Comparative Law Forum

Sentencing councils and commissions: an exception to Damaška's two ideal types

by Paul Hughes*

(2014) Oxford U Comparative L Forum 1 at ouclf.iuscomp.org | How to cite this article

Table of contents

- 1. Introduction
- 2. The civil and common law traditions
- 3. Structuring authoring in civil and common law jurisdictions
- 3.1. Damaška's structuring of authority
- 3.1.1. The hierarchical ideal
- 3.1.2. The coordinate ideal
- 3.1.3. The second dimension of Damaška's framework
- 3.2. Criticism of Damaška's ideal types
- 4. Fitting sentencing bodies into Damaška's ideal types
- 5. Conclusion

Endnotes

1. Introduction

Damaška¹developed a framework for tracing similarities and differences in civil and common law jurisdictions, assembling them into two 'ideal types' called the 'hierarchical' and the 'coordinate.' The hierarchical ideal is associated with civil law jurisdictions while the coordinate is connected to common law jurisdictions. Damaška contends that the structure of authority in any jurisdiction can be broadly categorised into either of these two ideal types but accepts that traits of one may be found in the other. However, these traits will only be loosely attached to each category with firm moorings in one of the ideal types. The characteristics associated with the hierarchical ideal include decision making according to technical standards with narrow choices and emotional disengagement. The decision maker is expected to make a particular decision when certain facts are present. The idea of individual justice is reduced. Professionals serve long terms of office and a feeling of routine may develop. A sense of insiders and outsiders appears. On the other hand, the coordinate notion is characterised by hostility to more formal models of decision making, and this results in a more individualised approach, thus maintaining a personal feel. Technical approaches to decision making are unwelcome. Power is vested in lay people with a spirit of inclusivity.

Damaška's ideal types are not without criticism based on the notion that reducing all jurisdictions to two basic model types is overly simplistic, and that the two model types cannot accommodate modern developments within legal systems. One such development is the concept of sentencing councils and commissions (referred to as 'sentencing bodies' in this article) and their associated sentencing guidelines. Generally, sentencing bodies are independent bodies set up pursuant to statute with a mix of judicial and non-judicial (lay) members. These bodies seek to promote greater consistency and transparency in sentencing and increase the public's awareness of sentencing. Some have heavy judicial input, while others have no judicial input at all. Members come from diverse backgrounds including academics, experts in law enforcement, experts in criminal law such as prosecutors and defence counsel, experts in juvenile justice, those with experience of victims of crime and experts in the prison system. Sentencing bodies have many different functions relating to sentencing matters and can include promulgating guidelines, monitoring sentencing, accessing costs, carrying out research, educating the public on sentencing and giving sentencing advice to the courts.

The use of sentencing guidelines requires that sentencing decisions are reached in a technical way with narrow choices. A particular outcome is expected if certain facts are present. With professional members serving fairly lengthy terms on these sentencing bodies one might associate sentencing bodies with Damaška's hierarchical ideal. However, sentencing bodies have not emerged in hierarchical (civil law) jurisdictions, and instead have developed in coordinate (common law) jurisdictions and are therefore a common law phenomenon. The purpose of this article is to discuss why sentencing bodies have emerged in some common law jurisdictions when according to Damaška such jurisdictions have hostility to technical-type decision making with a more individualised approach preferred. Could the notion of sentencing bodies be an exception to Damaška's ideal types? Frase² suggests that comparative sentencing analysis could be improved by explicit incorporation of Damaška's works.

Part two of this article will discuss the characteristics of the common law and civil law traditions. We will see that the civil law tradition is more mechanical than the common law tradition. Part three will explain in more detail the characteristics of Damaška's two ideal types and the criticism they have attracted. Part four will consider whether sentencing bodies fit into either of the two ideas and discuss whether they are an exception to Damaška's ideal types. Part five will make some concluding remarks.

2. The civil and common law traditions

Before discussing Damaška's ideal types it is first necessary to outline the characteristics of the civil law and common law landscapes. Sentencing bodies are a common law phenomenon and they do not appear in the civil law tradition.³ It is important to understand why this is so: as Tonry4 points out 'it is harder to explain why things do not happen than why they do.' Legal systems are, in essence, value systems, and it is difficult to explain comparative differences without acknowledging that value commitments differ from society to society, with the only explanations sometimes arising from cultural, historical and social traditions. 6 Of course there are some similarities between the two legal traditions when it comes to the criminal law. Generally, the substantive criminal law does not differ greatly between the two, with the same kind of deviant behaviour considered criminal. The two traditions operate with the same palette of rationales for punishment, including retribution, deterrence, incapacitation, and rehabilitation. Lempert suggests when examining the functions of the two legal systems that they both appear different, but each must achieve similar ends relating to binding the society together. They both have evolved to do much the same thing. 4 However, apart from these similarities not much else is the same. When we look at the two traditions there are many differences which may help explain why sentencing bodies did not emerge in the civil law tradition.

Many characteristics of the civil law tradition suggest that it is more rigid than the common law, with some arguing that there is more emphasis on form rather than substance. 10 It has been described as 'a sort of slot machine ... The necessary machinery had been provided in advance by the legislation ... and one had but to put in the facts above and take out the decision below.'11 Indeed the same comment could be made about sentencing bodies and their associated guidelines, where the facts of the case are inputted and the output comes in the form of the appropriate sentence. The civil law tradition is highly systematic, with legal scholars 12 and legal science 13 playing a more important role. Principles derived from scientific study of legal data are made to fit together in a very intricate way. As principles are discovered, they must be fully integrated into the system. If they are not, then either the system must be modified to accommodate them, or they must be modified to fit the system. Civil law jurisdictions are described as closed systems, in which any kind of question must, at least in theory, be resolved by an interpretation of an existing rule of law. On the other hand, the common law is described as an open system where one begins with a rule of law already enunciated and discovers the legal rule, perhaps a new legal rule, which must be applied in the instant case. 14 'In a common law system, judicial decisions constitute part of the law ... In a code system, codes and auxiliary statutes are the main body of law. In theory the courts merely "apply" and "interpret" the law. '15 In the civil law tradition, no decision of a court is binding on any other court; it is even possible for an inferior court to overrule a decision of a higher court. 16 The civil law tradition believes in the superiority of legislation, not relying on previous judicial decisions. 17

With civil law, there is a different ideology regarding legislation, where it is considered a complete set of law capable of answering all legal scenarios. 18 However, in a common law system, legal rules do not fall to be measured unless there is a dispute and all the facts of the case are known. 19 In civil law, legal rules have risen to a higher level of abstraction and are viewed as rules of conduct, not merely rules appropriate to a solution in a given case. 20 One could argue that sentencing imposed through rigid guidelines has also reached a high degree of abstraction.

Certainty is supreme in the civil law tradition, and legislation must be complete, coherent and clear 21 rather than take the form of broad laws that judges could apply as they see fit. 22 Civil law judges cannot make the law, and there is no room for judicial discretion unless authorised by statute, with flexibility sacrificed for certainty. 23 The common law tries to balance these two elements. In the civil law tradition, the application of the law is as automatic as possible. 24 The judge's role is routine and is like the operator of a machine designed and built by the legislature, though it may afford the judge a certain degree of discretion. His job is fundamentally rigid, mechanical, and uncreative. 25 Much of the civil law judge's work is done away from the courtroom, unlike their common law counterparts who often give detailed ex tempore judgments. 26 Decisions from the civil law courts tend to be relatively short and declaratory of the law. Again, this automatic rigid application of the law is reflected in sentencing bodies and their associated quidelines.

In a civil law tradition, the criminal procedure itself appears to have a more rigid character than the common law and operates in a piecemeal fashion 27 (or instalment style) with heavy reliance on the written record. Review from higher authorities is normal and the decision, unlike in common law systems, is not considered final until all reviews have been exhausted. The single event trial is unknown, with trials involving a series of successive hearings and consultations. After a given session, new points arise which are the subject of another session, and so on, until the issue seems thoroughly clear. A final session is then devoted to bringing all the strands together and reaching a decision.

3. Structuring authoring in civil and common law jurisdictions

The primary characteristic of any sentencing body is that it offers a degree of rigidity to sentencing considerations through various mechanisms, resulting in the structuring of judicial discretion. For such a body to be superimposed onto an existing legal system, one must take into account the structure of that existing system. In an attempt to bring order into the bewildering world of comparative procedure, Damaška established a framework to assist when tracing similarities and differences in component parts of differing legal systems by linking identifiable associations and reducing them to more manageable proportions. Damaška focused on procedural issues at a given point in time and gave little attention to sentencing; 30 consequently, it will be interesting to see where sentencing bodies fit in his framework.

3.1. Damaška's structuring of authority

Damaška proposed a two dimensional theory which was designed to replace the traditional adversary – versus – inquisitorial models when comparing legal systems. He suggested a framework which would facilitate the study of linkages between authority and the legal process. In order to do this Damaška dissected procedural styles into their individual components, grouped them together according to their similarities and differences, and assembled them into 'ideal types' of civil and common law procedure, and then built pure models of procedural styles. The first dimension of Damaška's theory examines the structure of procedural authority as he contends that it leaves its marks on the legal process. To keep the problem within manageable proportions, he assembled into two models or 'ideals,' the characteristics of procedural officialdom constructed against the background of models of authority. Damaška accepts that the two styles will include some traits found in one or another version of these concepts, but while these traits are only loosely attached to each category, they will have firm moorings in this scheme.

He called these ideal types 'hierarchical' and 'coordinate.' The second dimension of Damaška's framework looks at the role of government in implementing their political goals. He contends that there are connections between these goals and the structure of authority which are relevant to the choice of many procedural arrangements. Again, he identified two ways of pursuing the state's goals, each of which had a tendency to be

associated with one of the ideal types identified. The first he called the 'policy implementing' (or 'activist') state and the second the 'conflict solving' (or 'reactive') state. In the following paragraphs we will take a closer look at the characteristics of each of these dimensions. However, for our purposes, the first dimension, whose characteristics are more physically observable, is the most important, and this is the primary focus. This is because I am concerned with the overall sentencing architecture in place rather than the implementation of a state's goals, which is associated with the second dimension of Damaška's ideal. Moreover, the second dimension of Damaška's framework is more trial focused and is thus not central to this article.

3.1.1. The hierarchical ideal

The first ideal type of structuring authority that Damaška identified was what he called the 'hierarchical' ideal, which is associated with the civil law tradition. This first structure is characterised by a professional corps of officials who make decisions according to technical standards not easily accessible to laymen. Professionals carve a sphere of practice which they regard as their own special province. Over time, they develop a sense of identity with similarly situated individuals, so the lines become rigid between insiders and outsiders. If outside participation is imposed upon such officials it is viewed as meddling. Long terms of office create the space for making tasks appear routine. As matters become routine, calls for individualized justice decrease. Choices become narrow, and emotional disengagement is possible. As a result, the decision maker can make decisions in his professional capacity that he would never make in his private capacity. The ideal is also characterised by using technical standards for decision making. Here, decision makers are expected to make a particular decision when specific facts are found. The mechanisms used in arriving at decisions are framed in language which forecloses many theoretically possible paths of interpretation.

3.1.2. The coordinate ideal

The second ideal type identified by Damaška was what he called the 'coordinate' ideal which is associated with the common law. This ideal is characterised by power vested in lay people who perform their functions for a limited time. Where the apparatus of authority is for a limited time, there is little opportunity for a spirit of exclusivity to develop. Routine has little chance to develop, but if terms of office are longer, some hardening of ways may set in. Decisions taken have more of a personal feel. Professionals make it their business to interact with the lay officials. These professionals assist the lay officials. Thus a symbolic relationship develops between lay officials and professionals. Another characteristic of the coordinate ideal is the undesirability of technical approaches to decision making. There is hostility towards more formal models of decision making and this results in a more individualised approach to decision making, thereby leaning towards official discretion. The ideal rejects any approach to decision making that would require officials to apply standards divorced from prevailing ethical, political or religious norms. Non-technical decisions are more open ended and have a tendency not to be forced into rigid notational systems. Decisions reached need not be totally unpredictable nor incapable of justification. Lay officials do not like being bound by technical criteria as such criteria may transpire to be at odds with their ideas about the appropriate solution of the case.

3.1.3. The second dimension of Damaška's framework

Having discussed each of the ideal types, this leads us to a discussion on the second dimension of Damaška's framework. Damaška argued that each ideal type produces fundamentally different types of state each with its own characteristics. The first is what he called the 'activist' state which is associated with the hierarchical structure of authority. This state seeks to manage social problems and achieve defined government goals. It seeks to achieve defined social and governmental purposes by discerning goals worthy of pursuit and formulating policies correctly geared towards their attainment. The 'activist' state seems to anticipate problems and implement a policy to deal with the problem in advance of the problem arising. The government considers itself as a joint manager of its own pursuits and that of the people. The second type of state Damaška called the 'reactive' state. This state is characterised by a more stand-offish approach by the government. The government does not interfere with people's lives and they are left to pursue their interests, with the courts merely providing a mechanism to settle disputes

after they arise. Damaška accepts that a state may pursue a mixture of activist and reactive goals. This may happen where a state previously committed to the ideal of limited government acquires an increasing appetite to intervene in the circumstances of social life. In summary, it is fair to say that Damaška's hierarchical ideal and associated activist state is characterised by rigidity and inflexibility while his coordinate ideal and reactive state is characterised by a more flexible and individual approach.

3.2. Criticism of Damaška's ideal types

Some commentators have criticised Damaška's framework. These criticisms are often general in nature and point to situations not caught by Damaška's model. Firstly, we will look at the general criticisms followed by the specific sentencing criticisms. Swart32 contends that Damaška's framework is limited when dealing with international criminal justice. When looking at the first dimension of Damaška's framework, he argues that Damaška's structure of authority is predicated on the existence of a national state and a central authority and the international society cannot be compared with a national state, or only to a very limited degree and in a rather loose way. While there may well be an international society, there is no such thing as a world state or a world authority. Power is fragmented and dispersed and there is no vertical structure of authority. When looking at the second aspect of Damaška's framework, Swart points out that although international criminal law exists, there is no international legislator to determine its contents or to pursue its goals. He explains the closest thing to a world government is the Security Council of the United Nations. In a more general way, Swart points to a problem when using ideal types which is that they only tend to reveal what is different and do not explain which features legal systems in the real world might have in common or the reasons why. Interestingly, Swart, despite these criticisms, applies the first dimension of Damaška's framework (the structuring of authority) to ad hoc international tribunals and the International Criminal Court and finds that they represent hybrids of the hierarchical and coordinate ideal types of officialdom. This is because of the absence of lay participation in the trying of cases which tends to be hierarchical and the leaning towards non-technical decision making which tends to be coordinate. In applying Damaška's framework to tribunals and courts in this way, it opens up the possibility of applying it to other bodies, such as sentencing bodies.

Chiavario³³ has also criticised Damaška's framework, particularly when it is applied to Italy. Damaška, after describing the characteristics of the hierarchical ideal, indicated that the traditional judicial apparatus on the European continent was a typical example of it. Chiavario contends that this is not the case in Italy as their judicial organisation rejects hierarchy as in Italy magistrates, judges, prosecutors and other officials are quite distinct and do not form a hierarchy. In Italian juvenile courts, lay people with qualifications in sociology, psychology and the like, help professional judges. In the military courts judges are helped by members of the army. Lay judges are present in the court of assizes. ³⁴ Chiavairo contends that the presence of such lay participation is inconsistent with Damaška's hierarchical ideal. Marafioti concludes that the Italian system 'has attempted to graft adversarial procedures on to a fundamentally inquisitorial legal system. The result is a system caught between two different traditions. '³⁵

Markovits³⁶ like Chiavario points to jurisdictions which seem to contradict Damaška's framework. She looks at the Soviet Union as an example of a jurisdiction which Damaška indicated fell into the hierarchical and policy implementing ideal. She points out that there was a relatively high degree of public participation there; judges were elected and they tolerated a lack of professionalism. Thaman³⁷ also points to other coordinate type reforms since the collapse of the Soviet Union in 1991. These include adversarial procedures, plea bargaining and jury trials. This indicates that the former Soviet Union leans more towards the coordinate ideal. Markovits also contends that Damaška's framework is abstract and value free. Markovits accepts that Damaška's first dimension (relating to the structure of authority) focuses on visible structures of judicial organisation and is discernible from an external point of view. However, she contends that Damaška's second dimension relating to pursuing and attaining goals is vague and subject to interpretation. She sees them as not being tangible outward arrangements, which can be observed or described.

Finally, we will look at the criticisms of Damaška's framework which specifically relate to sentencing. 38 Frase contends that the growing complexity and hybridisation of modern criminal justice systems tends to undercut the simplicity needed for models to serve their

functions. Damaška characterised continental Europe as having a hierarchical framework. Frase points out that continental Europe gives lay judges or lay jurors as well as crime victims (ie non-professionals) more substantial sentencing roles. This suggests a leaning towards the coordinate ideal and this does not sit comfortably with Damaška's thinking. Frase suggests that Damaška's models were primarily designed to categorise, describe and explain procedural systems at a given point in time and give little emphasis to modelling of change or evolution in these systems. He gives the example of the development of highly technical sentencing guidelines which should be more likely in the hierarchical ideal, but which have developed in the United States, a jurisdiction which Damaška considers as falling into the coordinate ideal. Frase explains this development by a shift in the purposes of sentencing from rehabilitation to retribution and deterrence. Damaška's limited success in this context reflects the powerful effects that sentencing purposes and severity have on sentencing procedure. Inevitably sentencing policies pursue an 'activist' approach. That said, Frase concludes that comparative sentencing analysis could be improved by explicit incorporation of Damaška's structural and systemicpurpose models which is a challenging task. 39

4. Fitting sentencing bodies into Damaška's ideal types

The particular ideal type that a legal system leans towards has fundamental implications for the shape of its legal reasoning. The hierarchical ideal is associated with civil law jurisdictions, while the coordinate ideal is associated with common law jurisdictions. The hierarchical ideal is orientated towards long-serving professionals, supervision, and control over lower ranking officials by higher ones. It is essential that the law gives a definite answer as far as possible, and a law cannot be considered a law unless it is formulated with sufficient precision to enable a citizen to foresee the consequences of his actions. 40 The hierarchical ideal applies technical standards used in a routine fashion for decision making41 with emotional detachment and no individual justice. The language used in standards forecloses many theoretical possibilities. Decision makers are expected to make particular decisions when facts are found that are specified under normative standards. Therefore, hierarchical jurisdictions regard judicial discretion as dangerous and, as a result their system is rigid. 42 Consequently, by allowing some degree of rigidity or precision, a sentencing body, by structuring judicial discretion, is offering something that appears to be already inbuilt into the overall structure of authority in civil law jurisdictions. In essence the functions that are offered by a sentencing body are served elsewhere in hierarchical jurisdictions.

By way of example, in Sweden, a hierarchical jurisdiction, the legislation 43 contains what are described as 'discursive' guidelines. 44 The sentencing body's function of preparing guidelines is subsumed in the legislation. This legislation results from the work of the Committee for Imprisonment who drafted two wholly new chapters of Sweden's penal code. 45 This committee studied sentencing for a number of years and consulted with a wide group of stakeholders, including scholars, judges, prosecutors, lawyers, correctional administrators, union officials and other interested persons. Effectively, the committee carried out the work usually associated with a sentencing body. Germany and Finland have similar principles, but the Swedish model is considered to be the most sophisticated. 46 This legislative guidance articulates the goals the judiciary should pursue when determining sentences and the criteria and steps they should apply in pursuing those goals. The Swedish model has been described as falling somewhere between the English model, where the appellate courts lay down guidance, and that of the US state of Minnesota with a numerical sentencing grid. 47 It lays down principles without numbers. The Swedish legislation sets out 48 that the 'abstract penal value' of the crime is gauged reflecting the harmfulness and the culpability of the offender that is typical for such an offence. Next, the court makes a judgement on the 'concrete penal value' of the offender' s particular criminal act, which is the seriousness of the crime in the particular circumstances. The legislation offers specific guidance on the circumstances in which the penal value is enhanced $\frac{49}{2}$ and diminished. $\frac{50}{2}$ Next aggravating $\frac{51}{2}$ and mitigating $\frac{52}{2}$ factors are considered as outlined in the legislation. Then the choice of sanction is considered, which depends on whether the penal value ascertained is high or low. There are three levels of sanction, 53 fewer than most other countries. 54 The most severe is imprisonment, the next is probation, and the least severe is fines. The legislation sets out particular guidance on the choice of sanction. 55 Crimes of high penal value generally result in imprisonment while those with low value generally attract fines. The Swedish legislation has led to a more reasoned decision making process with the judiciary engaging more explicitly and openly in how they arrive at a particular sentence. $\frac{56}{2}$ One can see how such guidance as that contained in the Swedish legislation would lead to a more definitive sentence which is more predictable. This is to be expected in a hierarchical jurisdiction.

Furthermore, over time the hierarchical ideal develops a sense of identity and lines become rigid between insiders and outsiders. 57 The lay participation of many sentencing bodies does not fit with the hierarchical ideal characterised by professionals. If outsider participation in making a decision is imposed (by a sentencing body) upon officials it is viewed, at best, as meddling that needs to be contained and minimised. In civil law traditions, the power to make decisions about sentences comes from the legislature in the form of scales with guided discretion. This is culturally accepted and has its roots in constitutional principles. Part of the culture is that the courts do not accept instructions from outside (in this case a sentencing body). $\frac{58}{}$ The reason for this can be traced historically to the strict separation of powers in the civil law tradition as compared to the common law tradition. 59 This rigid separation of powers affects the court system. 60 The strict separation of powers developed largely due to a spate of upheavals that took place in the West in the late eighteenth century which in turn, gave rise to an intellectual revolution. This movement, which affected most Western nations, included such dramatic events as the American and French revolutions, the Italian Risorgimento, the series of wars of independence that liberated the nations of Latin America, the unification of Germany and the liberation of Greece. 61 In civil law jurisdictions judges sometimes refused to apply new laws, or interpreted them contrary to their intent,62 which was not a problem in common law jurisdictions where judges had played an important part in the centralisation of government. In order to prevent this, sharp lines were drawn between the separation of powers. It was the function of the legislature only to make the law, and the judge was prevented from doing so. The legislature was the elected branch of government and was the only entity entitled to respond to the popular will of the people. To this day the separation of powers is sharper in civil law jurisdictions. In the civil law tradition the legislature may delegate some of its powers to organs of the state, 63 but this appears not to include independent agencies free of state involvement. That being the case, a sentencing body does not fall neatly within the hierarchical ideal as, in effect, it is instructing the court what to do.

Officials in civil law jurisdictions have succeeded in keeping control of the punishment process without becoming subject to decisive pressure from a disgruntled public. 64 They have a routinized attitude insulated from politics. One could associate this with the first dimension of Damaška's theory relating to the structure of authority. Politicians are not calling for populist policies and they do not have the same success in engaging in scare tactics as they do in common law jurisdictions. Politics has less of an impact on criminal justice in civil law jurisdictions. 65 The idea of insulation from politics is one of the reasons sentencing bodies emerged in common law jurisdictions, something that appears to be inherent in civil law jurisdictions. Likewise the media in civil law jurisdictions take a sober and reasonable attitude to criminal policy. The media in many civil law jurisdictions is often shocked at the severity of punishments in America and treat it as a roque state, hesitating to extradite offenders there. 66 In America symbolism and ideology often are more important in policy formulation than substance and principle. 67 In civil law jurisdictions fairness to the offender is seen as a paramount value to be pursued in sentencing. Consequently, as sentencing bodies introduce a feeling of insiders and outsiders, they do not sit comfortably in the hierarchical jurisdictions as this insider and outsider feeling is there already.

Also, in civil law jurisdictions crime policy has not been heavily politicized and sentence severity is restrained which means they have been under much less pressure to change. 68 Sentence lengths have been notably longer in common law jurisdictions, particularly America, in which sentences of ten, twenty and thirty years are common. Whitman suggests part of the reason for this 'is the presence of some distinctively fierce American Christian beliefs. 69 In civil law jurisdictions sentences are more commonly measured in months or a few years with sentences of longer than two years uncommon. For example, Whitman indicates that the average sentence in France is eight months while in America it is five to ten times greater. Moreover, in civil law jurisdictions there is a drive to make a range of offences 'not crime,' while in many common law jurisdictions, the concept of zero tolerance is gaining currency. When sentences are measured in months rather than years, disparity and inconsistency do not appear to be as big a problem, thus eliminating the need for sentencing bodies. With more severe sentences coupled with broad judicial discretion the likelihood of inconsistency increased, thus resulting in the emergence of sentencing bodies.

When we look at the coordinate ideal associated with common law jurisdictions we see there are weak hierarchical controls and wide ranging discretion. Technical or formal approaches to decision making appear undesirable and it rejects any decisions divorced from prevailing ethical, political or religious norm. 71 As sentencing bodies offer a degree of rigidity in the sentencing process one would not expect to see sentencing bodies within coordinate jurisdictions (as Frase points out).72 However, the coordinate ideal accepts a wide diffusion of authority among legal professionals with short terms of office who interact with lay officials. The composition of sentencing bodies often includes both professional and lay members appointed for relatively short periods. This may very well be a factor giving sentencing bodies a footing within coordinate jurisdictions. Moreover, the public in civil law jurisdictions generally have more confidence in the judiciary and therefore there are fewer efforts to eliminate any judicial discretion afforded to them by statute. This can be contrasted with America (coordinate jurisdiction) where there is suspicion of state power. 73 Generally, judges everywhere try to resist efforts to restrict their discretion. In civil law jurisdictions judges are career non-partisan civil servants and have resisted change more easily, whereas, in America judges are appointed in a system in which partisan political considerations play a large part and therefore are more likely to be open. Consequently, sentencing bodies and guidelines emerge.

5. Conclusion

The picture that emerges in the common law world is complex as some jurisdictions have sentencing bodies while others do not. Furthermore, there is a vast array of different sentencing body models in operation. The situation in the civil law world is much clearer as sentencing bodies do not exist in these jurisdictions, primarily because of the structuring of authority in place and the sentencing practices that have developed. Effectively, the functions offered by sentencing bodies are allocated elsewhere in these jurisdictions.

It is difficult to state with any degree of certainty which ideal the notion of sentencing bodies aligns with. Sentencing bodies offer a degree of rigidity (through highly technical standards) to sentencing and accordingly one might be inclined to associate them with the hierarchical ideal given its technical rigid approach. As we have seen, however, they do not fall neatly into that ideal as the benefits and functions of what sentencing bodies offer, appear to be subsumed in the overall structure of that ideal. Sentencing bodies do not sit neatly within the hierarchical structures of civil law jurisdictions as such jurisdictions view outside influence as unwarranted interference. Moreover, many of the reasons for the emergence of sentencing bodies such as structuring judicial discretion, insulating sentencing from the political process and populism, are not pressing issues in civil law jurisdictions. This is primarily due to a more lenient approach to sentencing with shorter sentences usually measured in months, thus disparity does not appear to be as big a problem.

On the other hand, as the coordinate ideal accepts a wide spread of authority between professional and lay members, one could conceive of sentencing bodies leaning towards that ideal. It may be argued that they do not fit neatly in the coordinate structures of common law jurisdictions because sentencing bodies offer a degree of rigidity to the sentencing process and this rigidity is associated with hierarchical structures. However, they have gained a footing there which may be connected to the acceptance of the diffusion of authority. It can be concluded that the notion of sentencing bodies do not fall neatly into either ideal as the rigid characteristics of the sentencing body itself appear to be hierarchical while the variance of authority resonates with the coordinate ideal. Reinforcing the notion that sentencing bodies do not sit comfortably in coordinate jurisdictions is the fact that not all coordinate jurisdictions have resorted to them. Moreover, some jurisdictions that established sentencing bodies subsequently decided to abandon the idea. 74 However, Damaška's ideals come with the proviso that, 'to be sure, the two styles will include some traits found in one or another.'75 Lempert6 expects that the breakdown of the two ideal types will accelerate as increased international interchange takes place resulting in borrowing across the traditions where aspects of one tradition seem functionally superior. Moreover, Hancock and Jackson point out that 'particular systems do not fall neatly into ideal types that [Damaška] caricatured as they evolve to meet particular social and economic conditions that prevail within societies in which they are located.'77 It is possible that sentencing bodies represent an exception to Damaška's framework and they have emerged in some common law jurisdictions to meet

particular social and economic needs.

Endnotes

- * PhD. This article is based on part of a completed PhD thesis submitted to University College Dublin. The thesis was completed under the supervision of Professor John Jackson of Nottingham University, to whom the author is most grateful.
- 1 M Damaška, The Two Faces of Justice and State Authority: A Comparative Approach to the Legal Process (New Haven and London: Yale University 1986).
- 2 R Frase, 'Sentencing and Comparative Law Theory' in J Jackson, M Langer and P Tillers (eds), Crime, Procedure and Evidence in a Comparative and International Context: Essays in Honour of Professor Mirjan Damaška (Oxford: Hart 2008) 351.
- 3 T Lappi-Seppala, 'Penal Policy in Scandinavia' (2007) 36 Crime & Justice 217, 5-6.
- 4 M Tonry, 'Parochialism in US Sentencing Policy' (1999) 45 Crime & Delinquency 48, 61.
- 5 J Whitman, 'No Right Answer?' in J Jackson, M Langer and P Tillers (eds), Crime, Procedure and Evidence in a Comparative and International Context: Essays in Honour of Professor Mirjan Damaška (Oxford: Hart 2008) 391.
- 6 ibid 389.
- 7 J Merryman and R Pérez-Perdomo, The Civil Law Tradition: An Introduction to the Legal Systems of Europe and Latin America (California: Stanford University Press 2007) 125.
- 8 M Dirk Dubber, 'Comparative Criminal Law' in M Reimann and R Zimmermann (eds), The Oxford Handbook of Comparative Law (Oxford University Press 2006), 1309.
- 9 R Lempert, 'Anglo-American and Continental Systems: Marsupials and Mammals of the Law' in J Jackson, M Langer and P Tillers (eds), Crime, Procedure and Evidence in a Comparative and International Context: Essays in Honour of Professor Mirjan Damaška (Oxford: Hart 2008) 410.
- 10 F Jesover, Enforcement of Corporate Governance in Asia: The Unfinished Agenda (Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Developments, 2007) 20.
- 11 R Schlesinger et al, Comparative Law, Cases and Materials (New York: Foundation Press 1998) 694.
- 12 Merryman and Pérez-Perdomo (n 7) 61-67.
- 13 ibid 63.
- $\underline{14}$ R David and J Brierley, Major Legal Systems in the World Today (London: Stevens & Sons 1985) 360-361.
- 15 Schlesinger (n 11) 667.
- 16 H Lawson, 'A Common Lawyer Looks at Codification' (1960) 2 Inter-American Law Review 1 4.
- 17 Schlesinger (n 11) 333.
- 18 Merryman and Pérez-Perdomo (n 7) 28.
- 19 David and Brierley (n 14) 359.
- 20 Ibid 94.
- 21 Merryman and Pérez-Perdomo (n 7) 30.
- 22 Dubber (n 8) 1314.
- 23 Merryman and Pérez-Perdomo (n 7) 50.
- 24 ibid 48.
- 25 ibid 36.
- 26 M Kirby, 'Judicial Dissent Common Law and Civil Law Traditions' (2007) Law Quarterly Review 379, 384
- <u>27</u> Damaška (n 1) 51.
- 28 ibid 50.
- 29 ibid 48.
- 30 Frase (n 2) 351.

- 31 A Markovits, 'Playing the Opposite Game: On Mirjan Damaška's the Two Faces of Justice and State Authority' (1998-1999) 41 Stanford Law Review 1313, 1315.
- 32 B Swart, 'Damaška and the Faces of International Criminal Justice' (2008) 6 Journal of International Criminal Justice 87.
- 33 M Chiavario, 'Some Considerations on the Faces of Justice by a 'Non-Specialist' (2008) 6 Journal of International Criminal Justice 69.
- 34 This court deals with the most serious crimes and consists of six lay judges selected from the public and two professional judges.
- 35 L Marafioti, 'Italian Criminal Procedure: A System Caught Between Two Traditions' in J Jackson, M Langer and P Tillers (eds), Crime, Procedure and Evidence in a Comparative and International Context: Essays in Honour of Professor Mirjan Damaška (Oxford: Hart 2008) 91.
- 36 Markovits (n 31) 1315.
- 37 S Thaman, 'The Two Faces of Justice in the Post-Soviet Legal Sphere: Adversarial Procedure, Jury Trial, Plea-Bargaining and the Inquisitorial Legacy' in J Jackson, M Langer and P Tillers (eds), Crime, Procedure and Evidence in a Comparative and International Context: Essays in Honour of Professor Mirjan Damaška (Oxford: Hart 2008) 100.
- 38 Frase (n 2) 351.
- 39 ibid 369.
- 40 Whitman (n 5) 386.
- 41 Damaška (n 1) 21.
- 42 Whitman (n 5) 386.
- 43 Swedish Criminal Code.
- 44 A Duff, 'Panel Three: Theories and Policies Underlying Guidelines Systems' (2005) 105 Columbia Law Review 1162, 1168.
- 45 A Von Hirsch, 'The Swedish Sentencing Law' in A Von Hirsch, A Ashworth and J Roberts (eds), Principled Sentencing, Readings on Theory and Policy (Oxford and Portland, Oregon: Hart 2009) 259.
- 46 A Ashworth, 'Techniques for Reducing Sentence Disparity' in A Von Hirsch, A Ashworth and J Roberts (eds), Principled Sentencing, Readings on Theory and Policy (Oxford and Portland, Oregon: Hart 2009) 248.
- 47 Von Hirsch (n 45) 260.
- 48 A Von Hirsch, K Knapp and M Tonry (eds), The Sentencing Commission and its Guidelines (Boston: Northeastern University Press 1987) 55; A Von Hirsch, 'Sentencing Reform in Sweden' in M Tonry and K Hatlestad (eds), Sentencing Reform in Overcrowded Times: A Comparative Perspective (New York: Oxford University Press 1997) 213.
- 49 Swedish Criminal Code, Chapter 29(2). These circumstances include, inter alia, the offender taking advantage of a victim's vulnerable state, abusing a position of trust and careful planning.
- 50 ibid, Chapter 29(3). These circumstances include, inter alia, mental abnormality, the manifest lack of development or strong human compassion led to the commission of the crime.
- 51 ibid, Chapter 29(4). This includes previous criminal history.
- <u>52</u> ibid, Chapter 29(5). These factors include, inter alia, the offender suffering a serious bodily injury as a consequence of the crime, the offender being discharged from his employment, his age and or bad health.
- 53 A Von Hirsch and N Jareborg, 'The Swedish Sentencing Law: The Details of the New Law' in A Von Hirsch, A Ashworth and J Roberts (eds), Principled Sentencing, Readings on Theory and Policy (Oxford and Portland, Oregon 2009) 264.
- 54 N Jareborg, 'Sentencing Law, Policy and Patterns in Sweden' in M Tonry (ed), Penal Reform in Overcrowded Times (New York: Oxford University Press 2001) 119.
- 55 Swedish Criminal Code, Chapter 30. For example, it sets out that imprisonment is prohibited for an offender with a mental abnormality.
- 56 Von Hirsch, 'Sentencing Reform in Sweden' (n 53) 214.
- <u>57</u> Damaška (n 1) 18.
- 58 T Lappi-Seppala, 'Sentencing and Punishment in Finland' in M Tonry and R Frase (eds), Sentencing and Sanctions in Western Countries (New York: Oxford University Press 2001) 138.
- 59 Merryman and Pérez-Perdomo (n 7) 33.

- <u>60</u> M Glendon, M Wallace Gordan and C Osakwe, Comparative Legal Traditions: Text, Materials and Cases on Western Law (West Publishing Company 1994) 67-68.
- 61 Merryman and Pérez-Perdomo (n 7) 15.
- 62 ibid 17.
- 63 ibid 24.
- 64 J Whitman, Harsh Times: Criminal Punishment and the Widening Divide Between America and Europe (Oxford, New York: Oxford University Press 2003) 15.
- 65 ibid 199.
- 66 ibid 4.
- 67 Tonry (n 4).
- $\underline{68}$ M Tonry and R Frase, Sentencing and Sanctions in Western Countries (Oxford and New York: Oxford University Press 2001) 7.
- 69 Whitman (n 64) 6.
- 70 ibid 70.
- 71 Damaška (n 1) 27.
- 72 Frase (n 2).
- 73 Whitman (n 64) 6.
- 74 For example the sentencing bodies in New York, Texas, Florida and New Zealand.
- 75 Damaška (n 1) 10.
- 76 Lempert (n 9) 411.
- 77 B Hancock and J Jackson, Standards for Prosecutors: An Analysis of the National Prosecuting Agencies in Ireland, New South Wales (Australia), the Netherlands and Denmark (International Association of Prosecutors 2009) 174.

Your must accept our <u>disclaimer</u> before you continue. The Oxford University Comparative Law Forum is sponsored by <u>CMS Hasche Sigle</u>.